
Date Published: 5 September 2019     

Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee

Thursday 12 September 2019 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

1  Apologies for absence Andrea Clarke

2  Declarations of interest 

Please see note (a) at the end of agenda.

3  Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 1 - 6) Andrea Clarke

SCRUTINY ITEMS

4  Developing the early help strategy (Pages 7 - 46)

This is an opportunity for the committee to input into the development of the 
Early Help Strategy. 

Eugene O'Kane

5  Care Leaver Offer Update - Mentoring Provision (Pages 47 - 48) Mark Bone

6  Revenue Monitoring Report (Pages 49 - 56) Suzanne Hall

Membership – Cllr Chris Coleman, Cllr Stephen Davies, Cllr Bernard Fisher, Cllr Colin Hay, 
Cllr Dr Andrew Miller, Cllr Loraine Patrick, Cllr Alan Preest, Cllr Brian Robinson (Chairman) and 
Cllr Lesley Williams MBE (Vice-Chairman)

Added Members - Charlotte Blanch (Clifton Diocese) and Dr Richard Castle (Primary Sector 
Parent Governor Representative)

Co-Opted Member - Ambassador for Vulnerable Children and Young People

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Please declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or 
personal interests that you may have relating to specific matters which may be discussed 



    

at this meeting, by signing the form that will be available in the Cabinet Suite.  Completing 
this list is acceptable as a declaration, but does not, of course, prevent members from 
declaring an interest orally in relation to individual agenda items.  The list will be available 
for public inspection.

Members requiring advice or clarification about whether to make a declaration of interest 
are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer (Jane Burns Tel: 01452 328472 /fax: 01452 
425149 e-mail: jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the start of the meeting.
 

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect Minutes or 
Reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact:
Andrea Clarke, Senior Democratic Services Adviser
:01452 324203/e-mail: andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk  

(c) GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
1 Will Members please sign the attendance list.
2 Please note that substitution arrangements are in place for Scrutiny (see p88 of the 

Constitution).

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:Julie.hill2@gloucestershire.gov.uk


- 1 -

CHILDREN AND FAMILIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

MINUTES of a meeting of the Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on 
Thursday 18 July 2019 at the Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester.

PRESENT:
Charlotte Blanch
Dr Richard Castle
Cllr Chris Coleman
Cllr Stephen Davies
Cllr Bernard Fisher

Cllr Colin Hay
Cllr Dr Andrew Miller
Cllr Loraine Patrick
Cllr Brian Robinson (Chairman)
Cllr Lesley Williams MBE (Vice-Chairman)

In attendance: Kevin Crompton - Interim Chair of the Gloucestershire Safeguarding 
Children Board 
Andy Dempsey - Director of Partnerships and Strategy
Kate Langley - Head of Youth Offending Service
Chris Spencer – Director of Children’s Services
Cllr Richard Boyles – Cabinet Member Children's Safeguarding and 
Early Years

Apologies: Ambassador for Vulnerable Children and Young People and Cllr Alan Preest

32. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
No declarations of interest were received.

33. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETINGS 
The minutes of the meeting on Thursday 23 May 2019 were agreed as a correct record and 
signed by the Chairman subject to the following amendment: -
Minute 21.17 remove the second ‘not’ in the first sentence such that it reads: Members did 
not feel that the process for identifying a MAT for the school to join was sufficiently 
transparent, and took too long, causing delays and concerns for parents and pupils.

34. SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19 
34.1 Serious Case Review ‘James’
34.1.1 Serious Case Review (SCR) 0116 ‘James’ had been published the previous day and it was 

agreed that Kevin Crompton, Interim Chair of the Gloucestershire Safeguarding Children 
Board (GSCB), would present the findings of this SCR to the committee. Mr Crompton 
informed the committee that the convention with SCRs was to anonymise the individual to 
protect the remaining relatives; the BBC and other local media had chosen not to do so. 

34.1.2 Mr Crompton informed members that ‘James’ died in awful circumstances. The SCR 
process was not about apportioning blame but to identify learning opportunities. The events 
that led to ‘James’ death took place three years ago; quite a lot of the practice at that time 
related to how partners were managing ‘James’ sibling. ‘James’ mother was in denial about 
the domestic abuse that she was experiencing, and lied about her drug use. All 
safeguarding partners needed to learn from this case. 

34.1.3 The committee was informed that the report identified that there had been a lack of 
professional curiosity and challenge; questions had not been asked when the opportunity to 
do so had arisen. It was questioned whether this death could have been prevented. Mr 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

Crompton stated that in his view the professionals involved could have called a strategy 
meeting to share information which would have meant they would have been better 
prepared/informed. He was, however, of the view that the mother would not have 
cooperated, and doubted whether the threshold would have been met for a care order. He 
reflected that the professionals involved should have been more aware of the risks. Whilst 
the professionals involved could have managed the case better and to some extent some 
aspects could have been predictable, he did not think that this death was preventable.

34.1.4 There was a shared view that yet again information sharing had proved a barrier, and 
members were frustrated that this continued to be a cause for concern. Some members 
were of the view that the concerns should have been spotted. The committee was clear 
that we must get this right. Mr Crompton accepted members’ points. He stated that 
information sharing had improved so it was disappointing that this had been such a 
significant factor in this case. 

34.1.5 Chris Spencer, Director of Children’s Services, informed the meeting that he did not 
disagree with Mr Crompton’s statements. He also informed members that when he had 
joined the council this report had been in draft form. The report had been redrafted as a 
result of intervention from himself and Mr Crompton as they had been of the view that it 
was not sufficiently independent. This had contributed to the delay in publication. He also 
stated that we were already in the position where we had addressed the shortcomings 
identified in the report.

34.1.6 A committee member commented that everyone used different systems which made it hard 
to share data. They also questioned how often a strategy meeting was called by someone 
other than a social worker. In response Andy Dempsey, Director of Partnerships and 
Strategy, explained that this data was not available as irrespective of who asked for the 
strategy meeting it would always be the social worker who would open the case online. He 
was clear that the views of partners would heavily influence the decision to call a strategy 
meeting. The committee was also informed that Gloucestershire has a higher proportion of 
strategy discussions compared to other areas; we needed to be more consistent in our 
approach and to not be too unnecessarily intrusive in people’s lives.

34.1.7 In response to a question it was explained that the MASH (Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub) 
was committed to giving feedback when concerns were reported, but Mr Dempsey 
acknowledged that this did not always happen. Members reiterated concerns regarding 
data sharing with one member stating that in their experience when discussing cases it was 
never possible to speak to the same person twice, and that it was necessary to put 
everything in writing. A member commented that it was important that there was a clear 
understanding of what data could be shared. 

34.1.8 It was explained that the MASH received over 200 contacts per month, and there was 
complexity and challenge involved in the work to respond to these cases. Mr Crompton 
reminded the committee that we rarely celebrated the many good cases, and reinforced 
that the children’s safeguarding system in the UK was the best in the world.  

34.1.9 Mr Spencer informed the committee that he could not guarantee that this would not happen 
again. Whilst accepting improvement was necessary it was important not to lose sight of 
the fact that the true culprits were the perpetrators. Mr Crompton explained that with regard 
to information sharing there were often difficulties around consent, particularly in the early 
stages. In this case the parents did everything they could to avoid giving consent. However, 
new guidance indicated that refusal of consent could be an indication that there were 
concerns that needed to be acted on. His philosophy was ‘dare to share’ and felt that 
professionals needed to take this approach. Members agreed.

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

34.1.10The committee agreed that social work was a difficult profession and that we should 
applaud those people that do this job. It was questioned whether the wider group of adults 
that came into contact with young people within school settings knew how to raise 
concerns. Mr Crompton explained that the volume of contacts received by the MASH 
seemed to indicate that people did know. He also explained that every teacher and 
employee at a school should know who their safeguarding lead was. He emphasised that 
safeguarding was everyone’s responsibility. 

34.1.11In response to questions it was explained that given the level of concealment by the 
mother it was difficult to see how a third party could have guessed that domestic abuse 
was a factor in this case, particularly as the elder sibling was thriving at the time. This 
chimed with the national debate on domestic abuse.

34.1.12The committee agreed that it was important for all members of council as corporate 
parents to be fully informed on the issues that arose through the SCRs. It was agreed that 
the Chair and Vice Chair would take this forward with Mr Crompton.
ACTION: Chair/Vice Chair

34.2 Annual Report
34.2.1 Kevin Crompton, Interim Chair GSCB, discussed the process that had led to the changes in 

safeguarding governance. The work of the GSCB during the last 12 months had been 
dominated by the transition to the new governance arrangements. 

34.2.2 As of 15 July 2019 the GSCB would no longer exist. However there remained a residual 
function relating to the outstanding SCRs; these must be completed and published by July 
2020. In response to questions it was explained that the SCRs would be published as soon 
as we were able to, but for some criminal proceedings were involved; each case had its 
own complications. There was also a shortage of SCR authors nationally. It was also 
explained that there was a national panel that reviewed SCRs. 

34.2.3 Mr Crompton informed the committee that he had no concerns with regard to the transition 
process. The Business Unit that had supported the GSCB would now support the new 
arrangements. 

34.2.4 It was commented that the use of the category ‘other’ on the charts was not helpful, and 
questioned whether this data could be broken down further. It was explained that the 
allegations management system was being replaced and in future this this detail would be 
available. At present it would require a manual trawl through the data. The committee was 
assured that the Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) system in Gloucestershire was 
very effective. 

34.2.5 In response to questions relating to the funding arrangements for children’s safeguarding 
Mr Spencer explained that currently the majority of the funding came from the council. 
However under the new arrangements there was equal responsibility across safeguarding 
partners which in his view meant that there should be equal funding; the Police and Health 
were talking about equitable funding. This would be discussed at the Safeguarding 
Executive. He was of the view that the base budget was sufficient. A particular pressure 
related to SCRs as there was a high daily rate for report authors. 

34.2.6 It was requested that a contextualised report on safeguarding matters be received at a 
future committee meeting. 
ACTION: Andrea Clarke

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

35. SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN - WORKING TOGETHER 2018 NEW 
ARRANGEMENTS 

35.1 The Director of Children’s Services presented the detail of the new Children’s Safeguarding 
working arrangements. He thanked Andy Dempsey, Director of Partnerships and Strategy, 
for his work on this issue. He confirmed that the committee would continue to receive 
reports on children’s safeguarding. He felt that under the previous system there had been 
insufficient focus on delivery. 

35.2 The committee welcomed the changes commenting that these appeared to address 
concerns raised by the committee in previous years. 

35.3 It was commented that this all looked good but it was about what happened ‘on the 
ground’. Mr Dempsey agreed and explained that this was a statement of intent. Following 
on from questions asked in relation to schools he also informed the committee that there 
had been a safeguarding event with schools on 17 July 2019 discussing thresholds in 
education settings; there would be another event in the Autumn. Mr Dempsey 
acknowledged that it was important to be clear with schools what the offer to them was. 
Members were also informed that a conference on the early help strategy was scheduled 
for the Autumn. This work was acknowledged by committee members but they were clear 
that the main factor was whether this was working ‘on the ground’.

35.4 Charlotte Blanch, Clifton Diocese representative and Headteacher at The Catholic School 
of St Gregory the Great in Cheltenham, informed the meeting that Primary Headteachers in 
Cheltenham were trying to develop a Cheltenham Offer but were struggling to get the 
secondary schools on board.

36. CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE AND THE CRIMINAL JUSTICE SYSTEM 
36.1 Kate Langley, Head of Youth Offending Service (YOS), gave a detailed presentation on the 

aims, objectives and outcomes (so far) of the Children First scheme. (For information the 
presentation slides were uploaded to the council’s website and included in the minute 
book.)

36.2 The committee also received a detailed presentation of the Youth Justice Plan by the 
Director Partnerships and Strategy. This plan also outlined the findings of the visit to 
Gloucestershire by HMIP (Her Majesty’s Inspector of Prisons) as part of their thematic 
inspection on youth resettlement. In response to a question the committee was assured 
that the ACEs checklist was built into the system, but it was acknowledged that this aspect 
and mental health support could be more explicit within the Action Plan.

36.3 Committee members were impressed with the outcomes achieved by the Children First 
scheme, and expressed their support of this work. Members were particularly impressed 
with the positive impact on the number of first time entrants and reoffending rates; and the 
focus being to see the child first and the offender second. The committee acknowledged 
that given the perception from the general public that all crimes should be prosecuted it had 
been a significant move to take this restorative approach forward. The impact of this 
scheme on a young person’s life chances should not be underestimated. 

36.4 A member stated that the committee should be outraged that young people have to go to 
the Parc Youth Offending Institute (YOI) in Bridgend, Wales; this was a two and a half hour 
journey. He also drew attention to the observations/criticisms from the thematic inspection. 
He also reiterated his concerns regarding the use of cells overnight for young people and 

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

welcomed Ms Langley’s assurance that a transfer protocol was now in place with the Police 
on this matter and that the numbers had reduced. 

36.5 Ms Langley acknowledged the concerns regarding Parc YOI and did not disagree with 
them. She informed the committee that the YOS did often transport families to Parc YOI to 
visit a family member. She also explained that the number of YOI establishments had been 
reduced and that Parc was the facility identified for young offenders from Gloucestershire.

36.6 The member also raised concerns with regard to the awareness of Children First across all 
Police Officers. His experience was that some Police Officers claimed that they were not 
aware of this initiative. As a solicitor this presented difficulties for him as it impacted on the 
advice he was able to give to his client. Members were disappointed that there remained 
officers who were not aware of this office. Ms Langley informed the committee that there 
had initially been some resourcing challenges but a full time coordinator was now in place, 
and there was now a presence in Police Stations seven days a week and it was hoped that 
this would help with these situations. She also explained that Children First was included in 
the induction training for new recruits and in divisional training events.

36.7 In response to a question it was explained that Police key performance indicators/targets 
were not adversely affected by the Children First scheme. It was also explained that work 
was in place with Victim Support to support the victims of crime. Work was also undertaken 
to review the victim’s journey; Restorative Gloucestershire also received feedback from 
victims of crime.

36.8 The committee supported and endorsed the Children First scheme, and also noted the 
Youth Justice Plan and agreed to receive an update on progress of the Plan at a future 
meeting.

37. YOUTH JUSTICE PLAN 
The committee discussed this item alongside the Children First item. Please see minute 36.

38. WORK PROGRAMME 2019 
The committee agreed to add bullying in schools to the workplan. Members also wanted to 
understand what progress there had been against the recommendations made by the 
Permanent Exclusions Task Group, particularly given that the Overview and Scrutiny 
Management had been de-commissioned following the review of scrutiny.

CHAIRMAN

Meeting concluded at 1.02 pm

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

Children and Families Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee 

Early Help for Vulnerable Children, Young 
People and Families 

P
age 7

A
genda Item

 4



What We Mean by ‘Early Help’ 

“Providing early help is more effective in promoting the welfare of children than 
reacting later. Early Help means providing support as soon as a problem emerges, 
at any point in a child’s life, from the foundation years through to the teenage 
years” 

Working Together to Safeguard Children 
HM Government, 2018 

“All staff should be aware of the early help process, and understand their role in it. 
This includes identifying emerging problems, liaising with the designated 
safeguarding lead, sharing information with other professionals to support early 
identification and assessment and, in some cases, acting as the lead professional in 
undertaking an early help assessment.” 

Keeping Children Safe in Education, 
Statutory Guidance for Schools and Colleges, DfE, Sept 2016 

P
age 8



Service, Offer or System? 

‘Early Help is not just a service to which other 
professionals refer families, but is a wider, multi-

disciplinary and cross community offer or system through 
which services and community groups work together to 

provide responsive, flexible support’ 
 

LGA/ISOS Report March 2019 
 
 

P
age 9



P
age 10



Effective early help relies upon local agencies working 
together to:  

• identify children and families who would benefit from early help;  

• undertake an assessment of the need for early help; and  

• provide targeted early help services to address the assessed 
needs of a child and their family 

 

Local authorities under section 10 of the Children Act 2004,have a 
responsibility to promote inter-agency cooperation to improve 
the welfare of children.  
 

 

P
age 11



‘Identify children and families who would benefit 
from early help’  

 

• Identification by partner agencies – education, health, 
police, housing, voluntary agencies - as well as families 

• ‘Step-down’ from Social Care 

• Referrals through MASH for early help support 

• 1050 contacts were received in July 

• At the end of July there were 2679 children(1236 
families) with an open early help ‘episode’ – the majority 
(76%) are allocated to Families First and Children and 
Family Centres  

 

 

 

 

P
age 12



‘Undertake an assessment of the need for early 
help’ 

My Assessment & 

• At the end of July there were 3415 

children with a My Plan (2096) or My 

Plan+ (1319) 

 

• Education are the lead professional 

for the majority My Plans  

P
age 13



Providing Targeted Early Help Services  

THE  
LEAD 

PRACTITIONER 

Schools, 
Colleges & 
Learning 
Providers 

Families First 
Service 

Locality Teams 
Youth 

Offending 
Service 

Early Years 
Providers & 
Children & 

Family 
Centres 

Health Service 
Providers 

Voluntary & 
Community 

Organisations 

Housing, 
Employment 

& Benefits 
Agencies 

SEND Team,  
Education 
Support  

P
age 14



Advice, Guidance and Support  

• Family Information 
Service 

• GlosFamilies Directory 

• Early Help Partnerships 

• Early Help Coordinators 

• Community Social Work 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Early Help Practice Guide 

• Improve understanding of 
levels of need 

• Improve understanding and 
provision of early help 

• Improve use of the 
Graduated Pathway 

• Support available for lead 
practitioners 

 

 

 

P
age 15



P
age 16



Discussion - The Schools Experience 

P
age 17



High Needs Strategy 
 

• 17% Reduction in permanent exclusions, with 50% decrease in 
primary phase. 

• Implementation of restorative practice, local inclusion clusters 
and work of GCC support services have diverted 80 permanent 
exclusions and reduced cost of alternative provision, which saw a 
£1m overspend in 2018/19. These reductions have reduced costs 
by circa £2.1m.   

• Alignment of restorative practice work with other GCC priorities 
including, ‘Team Around the School, ACEs/Trauma Informed 
practice and the mental health trailblazer. 

 

P
age 18



Practice Guidance
Update August 2019

P
age 19



Introduction
This document aims to provide guidance to the whole range of 
practitioners working with and supporting vulnerable children, 
young people and families in Gloucestershire. Early help is a key 
element of safeguarding and as such is everyone’s responsibility. 
While at times it may involve referrals to other agencies, at its heart 
it is about providing support by practitioners who have an existing, 
trusted relationship with the child, young person or family in order to 
intervene early and prevent problems from escalating. 

This document should be read in conjunction with the Levels of 
Intervention Guidance issued by the Gloucestershire Safeguarding 
Children Board and the Gloucestershire Guidance Booklet for 
Practitioners Working with Children and Young People (0-25 yrs)  
with Additional Needs including Special Educational Needs  
and Disabilities.

https://www.gscb.org.uk/media/1517569/gloucestershire-revised-loi-guidance-version-30-final-300118.pdf

https://www.glosfamiliesdirectory.org.uk/kb5/gloucs/glosfamilies/family.page?familychannel=3_2_9

Providing early help 
is more effective in 

promoting the welfare of children 
than reacting later. Early Help 
means providing support as soon 
as a problem emerges, at any 
point in a child’s life, from the 
foundation years through to  
the teenage years.

Working Together to Safeguard Children,  
HM Government, July 2018

Early Help Practice Guidance Gloucestershire County Council

2

P
age 20



What is Early help?
‘Early help’ is an umbrella term that describes 
the work of many agencies engaged with 
children and families including health services, 
schools, learning providers, local authorities, 
voluntary sector, children and family centres, 
police, housing providers and many others.  
We are all engaged to a greater or lesser 
extent in work that seeks to avert a problem 
developing and preventing difficulties from 
escalating or the deterioration of circumstances 
which could adversely affect children, young 
people and families.

There is a large body of evidence on the impact 
of adverse childhood experiences (ACE’s) on 
the health and well-being of children and young 
people that can persist into adulthood. The more 
adversity a child experiences the more likely it is to 
impact upon their mental and physical health. This 
underlines the importance of early help, particularly 
through developing positive relationships with 
trusted adults, which has been shown to build 
resilience and mitigate the impact of ACE’s on child 
and adolescent development. It also stresses the 
importance of whole-family working in early help in 
order to understand and address ACE’s in adults 
that may impact on their capacity to care for  
their children. 

Early help is also about focussing on how we can 
help people to do things for themselves and build 
on strengths within families. If we can get this right 
early on, at the right time, we get the opportunity 
to help people with areas of their life they may be 
struggling with, which sets people up for a better 
long-term future. It is also about proving support at 
any and every stage of a child’s life; pre-birth, during 
pregnancy, childhood and/or early adulthood.

Early help means providing support as soon as a 
problem emerges, at any point in a child’s life, from 
the foundation years through to the teenage years. 
Early help can also prevent further problems arising; 
for example, if it is provided as part of a support 
plan where a child has returned home to their family 
from care, or in families where there are emerging 
parental mental health issues or drug and  
alcohol misuse. 

Effective early help relies upon local organisations 
and agencies working together to:

• identify children and families who would benefit 
from early help 

• undertake an assessment of the need for  
early help 

• provide targeted early help services to address the 
assessed needs of a child and their family which 
focuses on activity to improve the outcomes for 
the child’

Providing early help 
is more effective in 

promoting the welfare of  
children than reacting later. 

Working Together (HM Government, 2018

Early Help Practice Guidance Gloucestershire County Council

3

P
age 21



Early Help Practice Guidance Gloucestershire County Council

What does effective early help  
feel like for practitioners?

What does effective early help feel 
like for children and families?

We only 
have to 
tell our 
story once

Practice which 
empowers families and 
helps them to develop 
the capacity to resolve 
their own problems

A graduated 
approach to 
identify what  
help the child 
and family need 
to prevent needs  
escalating

We have flexible 
support including 
longer or shorter 
term help depending 
on our needs

We have one ‘go to’ 
person that we can rely 
on to coordinate our 
early help support and 
keep things simple and 
manageable

We can 
have early 
help for 
the whole 
family

We are supported to think 
about what to change 
and how we might make 
those changes

We can focus on 
strengths and building 
resilience

We have as much 
continuity as possible 
without unnecessary 
service changes

We are listened to, heard 
and respected at every 
stage of our journey 
through early help

We have a trusted 
individual in our lives 
that we can confidently 
turn to for help when we 
need it

A relationship with a 
trusted lead practitioner 
who coordinates the 
support needed from 
other agencies

A whole-family approach 
that addresses the 
children’s needs in the 
wider family context

Simple, streamlined 
model of support for 
children and families 
with additional needs

An assessment plan 
for a child and family 
who would benefit from 
coordinated support from 
more than one agency

A multi-discipliniary 
approach, bringing a 
range of professional 
skills and expertise in a 
Team Around the Famly

Effective 
Early Help 

System

4

P
age 22



Early Help Practice Guidance Gloucestershire County Council

Role of the Local  
Authority in Early Help 
Under section 10 of the Children Act 2004 local 
authorities have a responsibility to promote 
inter-agency co-operation to improve the 
welfare of all children. Local organisations and 
agencies should have in place effective ways to 
identify emerging problems and potential unmet 
needs of children and families. Multi-agency 
Community Safety Partnerships (CSP’s) in each 
District will bring together agencies working 
with vulnerable families to provide a focus on 
safeguarding and early help. These partnerships 
will be supported by the local Families First 
teams and have the following core aims:

• To support and develop effective joint working 
between local agencies in order that children and 
young people are safeguarded and that help is 
provided at the earliest opportunity

• To develop a shared understanding of local 
needs, priorities, and the effectiveness of services 
in improving outcomes for vulnerable children, 
young people and families and take action as a 
locality to address these

• To identify local opportunities to collaborate, share 
resources and improve coordination of support so 
that children, young people and families receive 
help at the right time and to prevent escalation 
and requirement for higher level services

In addition a range of information, advice, guidance 
and support is available to practitioners through the 
Family Information Service, GlosFamilies Directory, 
Families First, Education and Inclusion Service, Early 
Years Service and the Special Educational Needs 
and Disability Information Advice and Support 
Service (SENDIASS). More detail on this is  
provided under Section 4 below.

Principles of Early Help

• Early Help is best provided by someone who has 
an existing trusted relationship with a child or 
young person

• seeing the child, young person or family first, not 
the difficulty

• Early Help should support children, young people 
and families to address needs at the lowest 
possible level and prevent them from escalating

• children and family feeling listened to and enabled 
to be part of the solution

• a joined-up approach that helps the whole family 
now and into the future

• a reduction in the multiple times families are asked 
for the same information.

5

P
age 23



Early Help Practice Guidance Gloucestershire County Council

All staff should be aware 
of the early help process, 

and understand their role in it. 
This includes identifying emerging 
problems, liaising with the 
designated safeguarding lead, 
sharing information with other 
professionals to support early 
identification and assessment 
and, in some cases, acting 
as the lead professional in 
undertaking an early help 
assessment.

Keeping Children Safe in Education, Statutory 
Guidance for Schools and Colleges, DfE, Sept 2018

A Graduated  
Approach
Enabling the right level of intervention and support when needed.

6

P
age 24



Early Help Practice Guidance Gloucestershire County Council

Applying a graduated approach 
Applying a graduated approach is about providing the right level of support at the right time. If more or different 
support is needed, it builds on the support already in place and from the understanding of what has worked/
not worked in the past.

This includes:

3 Helping people to help themselves - providing 
accessible information, advice and support

3 Understanding the person and being able to 
apply a person-centred approach

3 Identifying additional needs early

3 Using holistic assessment to understand needs 
and strengths of the whole family that might not 
be known already

3 Being committed to work in partnership with all 
agencies

3 Being transparent about decision making

3 Listening to parents and carers and involving 
them as fully as possible

3 Communicating with parents and carers

3 Setting SMART outcomes

	 • Specific

	 • Measurable

	 • Agreed

	 • Realistic

	 • Timed

3 Agreeing a plan of action and review date 

3 Involving other practitioners and agencies  
as needed

	 • Sharing information with consent

3 Being clear about everyone’s role

	 • Identifying the Lead Practitioner

Reviewing progress

	 • are outcomes being met?

	 • if not, why not?

	 • What needs to change?

	 • Do we have all the information we need?

7

P
age 25



• Including Education, Health and Care Plan;
   Child In Need Plan, Child in Care Plan

Statutory
Assessment 
and Planning

• Integrated assessment and 
   planning to meet additional needs

My Plan
• Support to meet additional needs

My Pro�le
• Universal services

My Plan +

 A
ss

es

s, P
lan, Do, Review

 A
ssess, Plan, Do, R

ev
ie

w

My Assessment

Early Help Practice Guidance Gloucestershire County Council

What is The Graduated Pathway?

In Gloucestershire, we are committed to working together and in partnership with 
all agencies providing services to children, young people and their families. The 
Graduated Pathway of Early Help & Support is our early help assessment and 
planning process which provides an integrated and holistic framework to support 
all practitioners working with children and young people and families. This applies 
to the whole range of needs including:

• Educational

• Social or emotional and /or disability

• Wider family and environmental 

The Graduated Pathway supports a whole-family approach and is based on a 
simple Assess, Plan, Do, Review cycle and has graduated responses which can 
be used as in the diagram.

It is important to capture the views of children and young people through use of 
the My Progress Tool.

A graduated approach - enabling the right level of intervention and 
support when needed:

8

P
age 26



Early Help Pathway

Early Help Practice Guidance Gloucestershire County Council

If your agency can 
met the child’s 

needs, follow your 
own agency’s 
procedures for 

support, delivery 
and review

The child’s needs 
can be met 

through a single 
agency which 

is not your own.  
Consult with the 

other agency and 
where appropriate 

make a referral 
with consent of the 

family.

A need is identified which can be met by a 
single agency 

Level 4 Specialist
Statutory Plan

Level 3 Intensive
My Assessment and My Plan+

Level 2 Additional
My Plan

The child’s needs can be  
met through your agency working jointly  
with another agency. Gain consent of the 
family to hold a Team Around the Family  
(TAF) Meeting and formulate a My Plan  

for delivery and review.  

The child’s needs are complex and  
enduring and a statutory response is required 

– ensure plans/assessments/reviews are 
shared with the lead agency and contribute 
as required. The Lead Practitioner role may 
now be transferred to the statutory agency 

but you will need to continue your support to 
the child and work with the team  

around the family.

The child’s needs are more complex and 
require an assessment to understand the 
range, depth or significance of the needs 

which may require a more intensive response.
The practitioner with concerns gains consent 
of the family and organises a TAF Meeting to 
gather information for the My Assessment & 
My Plan +. A Lead Practitioner is identified 

to co-ordinate the multi agency support 
identified in the My Plan+

Arrow key

Level of need reduced

Greater need identified

Level of 
intervention

At any time If you think a child or young person is at immediate risk of significant harm, contact the Gloucesterhire Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub on 01452 426565 In an emergency call 999. 
Always follow the GCSB Child Protection Process http://www.gscb.org.uk. Discuss concerns with your Supervisor or Designated Safeguarding Lead at all levels.  

If you need help with the Graduated 
Pathway (My Plan, My Plan +, 
EHCP), want to know how to 
coordinate a Team Around the 
Family/Child, or need to understand 
the role of the Lead Practitioner 
please contact the Early Help  
co-ordinators in your locality.

Cheltenham 01452 328160 cheltenhamearlyhelp@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Cotswolds 01452 328101 cotswoldsearlyhelp@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Forest of Dean 01452 328048 forestofdeanearlyhelp@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Gloucester 01452 328076 gloucesterearlyhelp@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Stroud 01452 328130 stroudearlyhelp@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Tewkesbury 01452 328251 tewkesburyearlyhelp@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Level 1 Universal
My Profile

9

P
age 27



Early Help Practice Guidance Gloucestershire County Council

Early Help Pathway
Level 1 Universal Level 2 Additional Level 3 Intensive Level 4 Specialist

Definition A child with no identified additional 
needs or needs that can be met by  
a single agency.

The child’s needs can be met through your agency 
working jointly with another agency.

The child’s needs are more complex and require an 
assessment to understand the range, depth or significance 
of the needs which may require a more intensive response.

The child’s needs are complex and enduring  
and a statutory response is required.

Which Plan 
should be 
used?

My Profile (or similar)

glosfamiliesdirectory.org.uk 

My Plan

glosfamiliesdirectory.org.uk

My Plan + (including a My Assessment)

glosfamiliesdirectory.org.uk      

For example, Education Health and Care Plan, 
Child in Need Plan, Child Protection Plan.

What you will 
need to do to 
support the 
child/young 
person and 
their family

• If your agency can meet the child’s 
needs, follow your own agency’s 
procedures for support, delivery  
and review.

• If your agency is unable to meet  
the child’s needs consult with the  
appropriate agency that could  
meet the need and where appropriate 
make a referral with consent of  
the family.

• Contact Families First and ask if a My Plan has  
been registered for the child by a different agency.  
If yes, contact the Lead Practitioner and discuss 
your concerns.

• If no, discuss the needs with the child and their  
family and gain their consent to start a My Plan. 

• Identify goals to be achieved and actions to  
achieve these goals in the My Plan.

• Take action identified in the My Plan to meet the 
needs of the child and their family.

• Keep clear records of the My Plan and register  
your My Plan with Families First. 

• Monitor and regularly review progress made  
through Review Team Around the Family meetings.

• Contact Families First and ask if a My Plan or My Plan+ 
has been registered for the child by a different agency.  
If yes, contact the Lead Practitioner and discuss your 
concerns and engage in the TAF.

• If no, discuss the needs with the child and their family and 
gain their consent to start a My Assessment & My Plan+. 

• Consider a TAF meeting to gather information for the My 
Assessment.

• Hold a TAF meeting to share the agreed assessment and 
inform the My Plan+.

• Identify a Lead Practitioner (this may not be the  
person who wrote the assessment).

• Take action to meet the needs of the child and  
their family.

• Regularly review progress through TAF meetings.

• Where social care are the specialist support 
they will become the Lead Practitioner– 
ensure you have shared any assesments, 
plans or reviews and where agreed, 
continue to work with the Multi-Agency 
Team to support meeting the identified 
needs.

• Where an Education, Health and Care Plan 
is in place, the SENDCo will become the 
Lead Practitioner and continue to follow 
a Level 3 response to contribute towards 
statutory annual reviews.

Who can help 
you if you 
need it?

• Glosfamilies directory of services.
• Local Offer. 
• Family Information Service.

•   As Level 1 plus.
• Early Help Coordinator, Families First.
• Early Help Advisor, Early Years SEN.
• Outcomes Coordinator, Education Inclusion Service.

• As level 1 and 2 plus.
• Community Social Worker.
• Education Services, e.g. EP, ATS, EIS 
• Youth Support Service.
• Children and Young People’s Service.

•   As Level 1, 2 and 3 plus
•   Social Worker
•   SEND Team

What should 
happen if 
level of need 
decreases?

• Discuss with the child and  
their family.

• No further additional  
support required.

• Discuss with the child and their family 
• At review TAF Meeting agree when needs have  

been met.
• Close My Plan and Inform your Families First Team. 

• Discuss with the child and their family and review progress 
through a review TAF meeting. 

• If needs are fully met, agree whether plan to  
be closed.

• If needs can be met at Level 2 agree Lead Practitioner and 
follow steps for a Level 2 response.

• Inform your Families First Team. 

• Discuss with the child and their family  
and the team around family to identify a  
Lead Practitioner.

• Follow steps for Level 3 using any existing  
up to date assesments and addressing any 
outstanding needs on statutory plans.

What should 
happen If 
level of need 
increases?

• Discuss with the child and  
their family.

• Contact Families First and ask if a My 
Plan has been registered for the child 

• If yes, contact the Lead Practitioner 
to discuss your concerns. 

• If no, create a My Plan and if a multi 
agency response is required arrange 
a TAF meeting inviting relevant 
agencies that may need to  
be involved.

• Discuss with the child and their family.
• Organise a Review TAF meeting and identify who  

will lead on the My Assessment.
• Follow steps for a Level 3 response to meeting  

the needs.

•  If progress is not being made, review and update the 
assessment and plan, access additional Early Help 
resources and review consent.

• Consider who else may need to be involved.
• If the level of risk to the child is increasing and relate to 

social care needs discuss with your safeguarding lead 
or contact your Community Social Worker for advice on 
whether the level of risk requires a Level 4 response. If 
yes, with consent complete a MARF.

• If it is an increasing health need discuss further with the 
Lead Health Professional.

• If it is an increasing educational need that may require a 
Level 4 response discuss further with the Lead Educa-
tional Professional and follow guidance for  
application for an Education, Health and Care Plan.

At any time If you think a child or young 
person is at immediate risk of significant 
harm, contact the Gloucesterhire Multi-
Agency Safeguarding Hub on 01452 426565

In an emergency call 999. Always follow  
the GCSB Child Protection Process  
http://www.gscb.org.uk/

Discuss concerns with your Supervisor or 
Designated Safeguarding Lead at all levels

10

P
age 28



Early Help Practice Guidance Gloucestershire County Council

GSCB Levels  
of Intervention

The levels of intervention guidance is intended to provide 
practitioners with guidance about making decisions 
according to the level of need. It aims to make sure that 
the appropriate level of support will be put in place to 
ensure that a child or young person’s needs are met in a 
robust and timely way. Levels of intervention act as a guide 
to professional decision making and are there to make 
sure that children, young people and families are able to 
access the right support to increase life chances and keep 
children and young people safe. 

Children and families have different levels of need at 
different times across a range of problems. Having 
a graduated approach ensures that support will be 
proportionate and at the lowest level of intervention. 
Children might also have a range of needs across different 
levels. It is important to take all needs into consideration 
when determining the type of support that might be 
required and the professionals who should be involved.

The levels of Intervention Windscreen complements 
and sits alongside the Early Help Pathway. 

Useful links 
My Plan document  
glosfamiliesdirectory.org.uk

For more detail please see the Graduated Pathway Flowchart  
My Assessment/My Plan+ document  
glosfamiliesdirectory.org.uk

Registering the My Plan/My Plan+  
glosfamiliesdirectory.org.uk

Progress charts  
glosfamiliesdirectory.org.uk

Consent and information sharing  
glosfamiliesdirectory.org.uk

The Windscreen
A diagram to demonstrate the Continuum of Need

If you think a child or young person is at immediate risk of significant harm, contact  
The Front Door on 01452 426565 (option 1) - in an emergency always call 999

Children, young  
people and families  

at the centre throughout

2 3

4

Children with additional 
needs identified and met 

through a graduated 
reponse (My Plan), either 

single or multi-agency

ADDITIONAL

Consent to share information is required unless there are  
concerns that to do so would place the child at greater risk of harm

Multi-agency approach 
using a My Assessment 
& My Plan+ with a whole 
family assessment and 

Lead Practitioner  
response

INTENSIVE

Specialist interventions 
involving statutory 
assessment and 

planning e.g. EHCP, 
CiN, CP, CiC

SPECIALIST

1
Children with no 
additional needs

UNIVERSAL

O
pe

n 
co

nv
er

sa
tio

ns
, t

hi
nk

ing
 ab

out th
e re

sources and support available to provide the right help at the right time to m
eet the needs of the child

My Plan, My Assessment & My Plan +

11

P
age 29



Early Help Practice Guidance Gloucestershire County Council

Persistent disruptive or 
withdrawn behaviours do 

not necessarily mean that a child 
or young person has SEN….
If it is thought housing, family or 
other domestic circumstances 
may be contributing to the 
presenting behaviour a multi-
agency approach, supported by 
the use of approaches such as 
the Early Help Assessment, may 
be appropriate. In all cases, early 
identification and intervention can 
significantly reduce the use of 
more costly intervention at a 
later stage.

SEND Code of Practice 2014

Meeting Needs
Meeting needs at the right level must be inclusive, involving parents/
carers, children and young people, relevant professionals and 
support services, which allows practitioners to make informed  
and proportionate responses to need. 

In the Gloucestershire levels of intervention model, there are four 
stages: Universal, Additional, Intensive, Specialist. Each stage 
provides for a solution-focussed approach to meeting needs at the 
earliest opportunity, with the most appropriate and least intrusive 
level of intervention. It is a graduated evidence based approach - 
all relevant approaches at the lower stages have been tried before 
involving services that provide a more intensive approach.

Our staged approach is designed around:

• Stages 1-3 Early help pathway
• Stage 4 Specialist interventions involving statutory assessment 
and planning (including Education Health and Care Plan,  
Child in Need Plan, Child in Care Plan. Child Protection)

12

P
age 30



Early Help Practice Guidance Gloucestershire County Council

Support and advice  
for practitioners

I feel everyone was very understanding 
and very supportive of the situation. 

I think people got to know our family and 
wanted us to do well.

Things are a lot better, I have better 
coping strategies [and] know where  

to go for help.

Quotes from children and young people regarding services they  
have received.

Gloucestershire Guidance Booklet for Practitioners Working with Children 
and Young People (0-25 years) with Additional Needs including Special 
Educational Needs and Disabilities

Where do you start?

Family Information Service (FIS) 
01452 427362 or 0800 542 0202 

familyinfo@gloucestershire.gov.uk

and

GlosFamilies Directory
glosfamiliesdirectory.org.uk

Information Advice Signposting

13

P
age 31



Support and advice  
for Early Help (Levels 1-3)
The Family Information Service and the GlosFamilies Directory provides a wide 
range of advice and guidance as well as information on resources including family 
support and advice, education, childcare and activities. In addition the Local Offer 
is a central source of information on services for children and young people aged 
0-25 with Special Educational needs and Disabilities (SEND) and their families. 
Finally it provides a central point of reference for practitioners containing resources 
to support direct work with families. 

Children, young people and families with additional needs will be supported 
through the use of the Graduated Pathway of Early Help and support. Early Help 
Coordinators and Community Social Workers offer advice, guidance and support 
directly to schools and other agencies.

Direct support to individual children and their families can be provided by Families 
First, Children and Family Centres and the Youth Support Team.

More information can be found on the Glos Families Directory.

For Early Help advice, guidance and support contact the Families First teams below.

Families First Teams:

Cheltenham 01452 328160 cheltenhamearlyhelp@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Cotswolds 01452 328101 cotswoldsearlyhelp@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Forest of Dean 01452 328048 forestofdeanearlyhelp@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Gloucester 01452 328076 gloucesterearlyhelp@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Stroud  01452 328130 stroudearlyhelp@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Tewkesbury 01452 328251 tewkesburyearlyhelp@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Family Group Conferencing 
A Family Group Conference (FGC) brings together family and friends to 
make decisions and plans for the care, protection and support of a child/
young person in your family.

Who to contact:  
Telephone 01242 532353   
E-mail fgc@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Triple P Parenting
Triple P suggests simple routines and small changes that can make a big 
difference to your family. It helps you understand the way your family works 
and uses the things you already say, think, feel and do in new ways.

Who to contact:  
Telephone 01452 427362   
E-mail earlyhelp@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Special Educational Needs and Disability Information Advice and 
Support Service (SENDIASS) Gloucestershire
SENDIASS Gloucestershire provides information, advice and support on 
matters relating to children and young people with special educational needs 
and disabilities (SEND).

Who to contact:  
Telephone 01452 389345   
E-mail sendiass@carersgloucestershire.org.uk
www.sendiassglos.org.uk   
Facebook – Sendiass Gloucestershire

The Early Years Service
The aim is to improve outcomes and reduce  
inequalities for all children aged 0-5 years.

Who to contact:  
Telephone 01452 427224   
E-mail eyservice@gloucestershire.gov.uk
eybusinesssupport@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Early Help Practice Guidance Gloucestershire County Council

14

P
age 32



Level One - Universal
Children or young person (CYP) with no identified additional  
needs or needs that can be met by universal services

Early Help Practice Guidance Gloucestershire County Council

Good Practice
Practitioners should always seek to discuss their concerns with the child’s family (and if 
appropriate, directly with the young person) to let them know what is going on and how you 
are trying to help. You will need consent to share information to access support. Families may 
also be able to explain, assist or resolve the issues themselves.

Consent
What are the rules for 
consent and sharing 
information?

Before support is undertaken 
around any aspect of the 
Graduated Pathway, informed 
consent will need to be gained 
from the young person and 
family. Informed consent means 
the young person and family 
are able to fully understand the 
reasons for consent. There is a 
consent form on the Information 
for Practitioners section of 
Families Information Service 
website. 

The Consent form needs to be 
explained to the parents/young 
person and then signed by them 
to show that they consent to 
information being shared. It is 
important to revisit the consent 
during the course of your work 
particularly if new services/
organisations start to work with 
the child/young person/family. 
It is important that the families/
young people you are working 
with understand what is on the 
consent form and what they are 
agreeing to when they sign it.

What you will need to do to support the child/
young person and their family.
• If your agency can meet the child’s needs, follow 

your own agency’s procedures for support, 
delivery and review

• If your agency is unable to meet the child’s needs 
consult with the appropriate agency that could 
meet the need and where appropriate make a 
referral with consent of the family.

Who can help?
• Glosfamilies directory of services

• Local Offer 

• Family Information Service

What should happen if the level of need 
decreases?
• Discuss with the child and their family.

• No further additional support required.

What should happen If the level of need 
increases?

• Discuss with the child and their family.

• Contact Families First and ask if a My Plan has 
been registered for the child. 

• If yes, contact the Lead Practitioner to discuss 
your concerns. 

• If no, create a My Plan and if a multi agency 
response is required arrange  
a TAF meeting inviting relevant agencies that may 
need to be involved.

15

P
age 33



Children and families 
may need support from 

a wide range of local agencies. 
Where a child and family would 
benefit from coordinated support 
from more than one agency 
(e.g. education, health, housing, 
police) there should be an inter-
agency assessment. These Early 
Help Assessments… should 
identify what help the child and 
family require to prevent needs 
escalating to a point where 
intervention would be needed  
via a statutory assessment  
under the Children Act 1989.

Working Together 2018

Level Two - Additional
The child’s needs can be met through your agency working jointly 
with another agency. Gain consent of the family to hold a Team 
Around the Family (TAF) Meeting and formulate a My Plan for delivery 
and review. The Lead Practitioner will coordinate the support.

Early Help Practice Guidance Gloucestershire County Council

16

P
age 34



Early Help Practice Guidance Gloucestershire County Council

What is the role and responsibilities 
of the Lead Practitioner?
Any professional can be a lead practitioner and should co-ordinate the 
delivery of support services. A GP, family support worker, school nurse, 
teacher, health visitor and/or special educational needs co-ordinator could 
undertake the lead practitioner role. Decisions about who should be the lead 
practitioner should be taken on a case-by-case basis and should be informed by 
the child and their family. This may change over the lifetime of the plan. 

• The Lead Practitioner should seek consent from the young person/family to 
develop a graduated, multi agency response. A My Plan or My Assessment 
& MyPlan+ will be required to provide a holistic, family centred understanding 
of need. This can also help Educational settings to build up a picture of 
need and support that can be used in the Education, Health and Care Plan 
(EHCP). If the needs require a multi-agency response, a Team around the 
child/family should be convened. 

• Identifying that a child or young person has additional needs does not 
necessarily mean that you will become the lead practitioner. There may 
already be a holistic plan of support in place, or the Team around the child/
family meeting (including parent/carer) will agree on the person best placed 
to support the family. As a Lead Practitioner, you will be responsible for the 
co-ordination of a multi-agency response. This does not mean that you need 
to do everything but you will be the main point of contact. Other members of 
the Team around the child/family can take notes, organise the meeting and 
take away actions as part of the multi agency plan of support (My Plan or  
My Plan+)

If the family or young person will not consent to share information using 
an Early Help Assessment or withdraws consent for early help, you will 
continue to support the needs of the child or young person and their family 
through ordinarily available provision and personalised services. This will 
provide future opportunities to engage them with additional support and 
also to continue monitoring for safeguarding concerns.

17

P
age 35



Early Help Practice Guidance Gloucestershire County Council

The (TAC) meeting went 
well and we felt that we 

were listened to. Also our child’s 
voice has been heard.

Parent, Gloucestershire Guidance Booklet  
SEND 2016

A Graduated Approach
Enabling the right level of intervention and support when needed.

Who should be involved in the Team  
around the Child/family meeting (TAC/TAF)?
• It is vital that children, young people and their families are at the heart of any conversations and 

subsequent support offered. Team around the child/family meetings should be as welcoming and inclusive 
as possible – practitioners avoiding jargon and being prepared to listen as well as contribute. The multi 
agency My Plan/Mt Plan+ should be developed with the child and family so that they have ownership of 
the plan.  

• All partner agencies involved in supporting the child, young person or family should have the opportunity 
to contribute to the multi agency Team around the child/family meeting. Effective sharing of information 
between practitioners and local organisations and agencies is essential for early identification of need, 
assessment and service provision to keep children safe. Serious case reviews have highlighted that missed 
opportunities to record, understand the significance of and share information in a timely manner can have 
severe consequences for the safety and welfare of children. 

• If advice and guidance is required around managing the risks within the family and/or escalating need, you 
can ask a Community Social Worker to attend the Team around the child/family meeting. Support will be 
provided to the Team around the child/family group to assess and manage the risk for the child and family,  
or to escalate concerns where it is decided to refer into Children’s Social Care for specialist support.

• Continue to review the plan that is in place for the child, young person and family. If progress isn’t being 
made then refer to the multi agency flowchart.

18

P
age 36



Level Three - Intensive
The child’s needs are more complex and require an assessment to 
understand the range, depth or significance of the needs which may 
require a more intensive response.

At level 3 the lead practitioner has assessed that a child or young person is not achieving outcomes with  
the support of the Team Around the Family or that their needs cannot be reasonably met through normally 
resourced local mainstream provision despite increased personalisation of service provision.

When you have concerns that the support provided by the Team Around the Family is not enabling progress 
contact the Early Help Coordinator (or SEN contact or Safeguarding service as appropriate). The Early Help 
Coordinator will work with the lead practitioner to identify the most appropriate and proportionate next steps.  
They will be able to:

1. Attend the review TAF meeting

2. Review the current support plan with the Team Around the Family and make recommendations according  
to the needs of the family

3. Make a decision with the lead practitioner and Team Around the Family as to the best course of action  
based on the needs of the child, young person and their family and support them to access appropriate 
services which can include services directly delivered or commissioned by the Local Authority

Early Help Practice Guidance Gloucestershire County Council

19

P
age 37



If the level decreases

• Discuss with the child and their family 
and review progress through a review 
TAF meeting. 

• If needs are fully met, agree whether  
plan to be closed.

• If needs can be met at Level 2 agree 
Lead Practitioner and follow steps for  
a Level 2 response.

• Inform your Families First Team

If the level increases

• If progress is not being made, review and 
update the assessment and plan, access 
additional Early Help resources and 
review consent.

• Consider who else may need  
to be involved.

• If the level of risk to the child is increasing 
and relate to social care needs discuss 
with your safeguarding lead or contact 
your Community Social Worker for 
advice on whether the level of risk 
requires a Level 4 response. If yes,  
with consent complete a MARF.

• If it is an increasing health need discuss 
further with the Lead Health Professional.

• If it is an increasing educational need 
that may require a Level 4 response 
discuss further with the Lead Educational 
Professional and follow guidance for 
application for an Education, Health and 
Care Plan.

The Early Help Assessment is a tool to engage with the child, young person 
and their family to effectively identify needs, strengths and possible solutions 
working in partnership with both the family and other services. The Early Help 
Assessment needs to be, proportionate to risk, and informed by research and  
by the historical context and significant events for each case. It is not a 
referral form! 

• Please find links to the My Assessment form on the reverse of the Graduated 
Pathway of Early Help document.

Once you have assessed needs and strength’s with the family, the Early Help 
Assessment can be shared with the services that you think need to be involved 
to meet the needs of the child, young person and their family. By doing this the 
family do not have to repeat their story more than once and the services you have 
identified have a clear understanding of how they can be of help.

Early Help Practice Guidance Gloucestershire County Council

20

P
age 38



Level Four - 
Specialist
The child’s needs are complex and enduring and  
a statutory response is required.

If during the course of work with a child or young person it is assessed that 
progress is not being made or the level of need is increasing then the practitioner 
should have a discussion with their safeguarding lead or contact the community 
social worker for advice. If the decision is that a Level 4 (Specialist) response is 
required the practitioner should complete a multi-agency referral form (MARF)  
and submit this to the MASH.

When making a safeguarding referral to MASH the Lead Practitioner is 
responsible for providing relevant documentation which will normally include  
Early Help My Plans, My Assessments & My Plan+, genogram, latest Team 
Around the Family review meeting minutes, tools completed which provide 
evidence of an increase in the level of risk (e.g CSE Screening Tool, Neglect 
Toolkit, Disability screening tool) which will be used to help inform the  
screening against the levels of intervention.

Practitioners should always seek consent from parents(or those who hold 
parental responsibility) or the young person, as appropriate, prior to making 
contact with MASH unless where seeking consent would place the child at 
increased risk of significant harm. If consent is not sought or provided, the 
rationale for this should be recorded on the MARF.

Outcomes of the contact to MASH include:

• Advice is given to the practitioner to follow up and no referral accepted.

• Referrer requested to obtain consent.

• An Early Help My Plan or My Assessment & My Plan+ is needed. If there 
is an existing plan, advice will be given as to how this can be enhanced 
to ensure the family is supported.  The Early Help Coordinator or 
Community Social Worker in your local Families First team or duty 
worker in the Disabled Children’s team will be informed so that support 
can be offered to the Lead Practitioner based in the community.

• A Single Assessment is needed. The child, young person and their 
family will remain open to early help lead practitioner and any service 
provided should continue while the Single Assessment is carried out 
by a social worker to determine risk and if it has met the threshold for 
social care intervention. Communication between the lead practitioner 
and the social worker will be vital to ensure the appropriate service 
provision is maintained.

• An immediate emergency response involving social care professionals.
 
Outcomes of a Single Assessment undertaken by a social worker 
include:

• The child and family needs a statutory intervention and a social worker 
is allocated and a plan is developed to meet the need – this might be a 
Child in Need Plan or Child Protection Plan

• In rare occasions, emergency protective action may be taken and the 
child becomes Looked After either in the short term or longer term

• Ongoing social work service is not required and advice is given on:

• how to provide support through universal services or a single 
agency (Levels 1 and 2) or

• how to develop a multi-agency Early Help My Plan+ (Level 3) 
informed by needs identified through the Single Assessment. The 
Early Help Coordinator or Community Social Worker in your local 
Families First team will be informed so that support/advice can be 
offered to the Lead Practitioner. 

Early Help Practice Guidance Gloucestershire County Council

21

P
age 39



Stepping down from  
social care intervention?
‘Step down’ from Children’s Social Care takes place either as an outcome 
of the Single Assessment or following on-going social care involvement 
(through being in the care of the Local Authority, Child Protection or Child in 
Need) because the needs have been met and/or the risks to the child have 
decreased. 

When a decision has been made that a child or young person is no longer in 
need of social work or other specialist intervention (‘step down’) a review meeting 
should identify the Lead Practitioner and agree the on-going plan. Weekly 
meetings are held in each locality, chaired by the Safeguarding Head of Service 
in order to plan for families to be transferred from social care to early help. These 
meetings, which usually involve Safeguarding and Assessment team managers, 
Families First managers and Children and Family Centre managers, are run 
consistently across the County in line with the agreed protocol which can be 
accessed here.  

The team around the family should continue to offer co-ordinated support and 
the lead practitioner role can be assumed by the most suitable practitioner. This 
will ensure that the child, young person and their family will benefit from a period 
of co-ordinated support from across the partnership at this stage in their journey. 

When a decision has been made that a child is no longer in need of social work 
intervention, but an ongoing level of support is required and the family and child 
have given consent to continued support and for information to be shared, then a 
transfer will be made to Early Help using the step down process referred  
to below. 

Plans to step down and transfer a child/young person and their family to Early 
Help should be discussed by the social worker with the family at the end of a 
Single Assessment or agreed at a Child in Need review meeting. Steps should 
be taken to identify a lead practitioner from an agency already involved with the 
family or the relevant practitioner if a single agency response is the outcome of 
the assessment.

How we support children and their 
families in stepping down from a 
Child in Need (CiN) Plan 
A decision to transfer a child from an existing CiN plan to a multi agency Early 
Help My Plan+ should be discussed and agreed at a CiN review meeting when 
planning the withdrawal of Level 4 interventions. 

This meeting should identify a new Lead Practitioner and agree the ongoing plan 
to ensure the identified needs for support are met through an early help offer. 

The plan will be agreed as part of the final CiN meeting and will be passed on by 
the social worker to the identified Lead Practitioner together with a copy of the 
single assessment.

The Early Help Lead Practitioner will need to review the support plan at six weekly 
intervals which will enable the Lead Practitioner, with the child and family to make 
a decision to continue with the support at Early Help Level 3 or further Step 
Down to Level 2. 

Where a disabled child’s needs are met through the provision of support services 
such as short breaks, the child will remain open to the Lead Practitioner in the 
community or the Disabled Children and Young People’s Service  for 6 monthly 
reviews.

When the child’s circumstances are satisfactory at the review then the child and 
family will be encouraged to continue to receive support through targeted or 
universal services. 

Early Help Practice Guidance Gloucestershire County Council

22

P
age 40



Learning and 
Development
Training
What further help and support is there to develop my skills around supporting children, young people 
and their families?

There is a regular programme of training to develop skills around all aspects of supporting children, young people 
and their families through the Graduated Pathway of Early Help and Support.

The following Early Help training workshops are available at locations in Gloucester & Cheltenham to include:

• The Graduated Pathway of Early Help & Support

• Outcomes Focused Planning & Creative Ways of Meeting Needs

• Chronologies/Genograms & Assessment/Analysis

• Listening to Children

• Team around the Child/Family 

• Neglect training

• MOMO (Mind of my Own)

If you wish to see more information about The Graduated Pathway training modules please visit; 

The Glos Families Directory website - http://www.glosfamiliesdirectory.org.uk/kb5/gloucs/ 
glosfamilies/family.page?familychannel=3_2_8 

Early Help Practice Guidance Gloucestershire County Council

23

P
age 41



Glossary
Child in Need

Under Section 17 (10) of the Children Act 1989, a child is a Child in Need if:

• He/she is unlikely to achieve or maintain, or have the opportunity of achieving 
or maintaining, a reasonable standard of health or development without the 
provision for him/her of services by a local authority

• His/her health or development is likely to be significantly impaired, or further 
impaired, without the provision for him/her of such services; or

• He/she is disabled

Child Protection

Part of safeguarding and promoting welfare. This refers to the activity that is 
undertaken to protect specific children who are suffering, or are likely to suffer, 
significant harm.

Early Help Assessment

An assessment tool that offers a basis for early identification of children and 
young peoples additional needs, the sharing of this information between 
organisations and the coordination of service provision. Where it is considered a 
child or young person may have additional needs, with the consent of the child, 
young person and their parents/carers, practitioners undertake and Early Help 
Assessment.

Education Health and Care Plan (EHC)

From September 2014, Government reforms mean that everyone aged 0 to 25 
with SEN (who has been through the statutory assessment process) could have a 
single plan setting out all the support they will receive from education, health and 
social care and who is responsible for each part for the plan. This EHC Plan will 
replace the statement of Special Educational Needs.

Special Educational Needs (SEN)

According to the Special Educational Needs and Disability Code of Practice:  
0-25 years (2014):

‘A child or young person has SEN if they have a learning difficulty or disability 
which calls for special educational provision to be made for him or her.

A child of compulsory school age or a young person has a learning difficulty or 
disability if he or she:

• Has a significantly greater difficulty in learning than the majority of others of 
the same age, or

• Has a disability which prevents or hinders him or her from making use of 
educational facilities of a kind generally provided for others of the same age 
in mainstream schools or mainstream post-16 institutions’

Early Help Practice Guidance Gloucestershire County Council

24

P
age 42



Early Help Practice Guidance Gloucestershire County Council

Myth-busting guide to information sharing
 
Sharing information enables practitioners and agencies to identify and provide 
appropriate services that safeguard and promote the welfare of children. Below 
are common myths that may hinder effective information sharing. 

Data protection legislation is a barrier to sharing information 
No – the Data Protection Act 2018 and GDPR do not prohibit the collection and 
sharing of personal information, but rather provide a framework to ensure that 
personal information is shared appropriately. In particular, the Data Protection 
Act 2018 balances the rights of the information subject (the individual whom the 
information is about) and the possible need to share information about them. 

Consent is always needed to share personal information 
No – you do not necessarily need consent to share personal information. 
Wherever possible, you should seek consent and be open and honest with the 
individual from the outset as to why, what, how and with whom, their information 
will be shared. You should seek consent where an individual may not expect their 
information to be passed on. When you gain consent to share information, it must 
be explicit, and freely given. There may be some circumstances where it is not 
appropriate to seek consent, because the individual cannot give consent, or it is 
not reasonable to obtain consent, or because to gain consent would put a child’s 
or young person’s safety at risk.

Personal information collected by one organisation/agency cannot be 
disclosed to another
No – this is not the case, unless the information is to be used for a purpose 
incompatible with the purpose for which it was originally collected. In the case 
of children in need, or children at risk of significant harm, it is difficult to foresee 
circumstances where information law would be a barrier to sharing personal 
information with other practitioners.

The common law duty of confidence and the Human Rights Act 1998 
prevent the sharing of personal information
No – this is not the case. In addition to the Data Protection Act 2018 and  
GDPR, practitioners need to balance the common law duty of confidence  
and the Human Rights Act 1998 against the effect on individuals or others  
of not sharing the information.

IT Systems are often a barrier to effective information sharing
No – IT systems, such as the Child Protection Information Sharing project  
(CP-IS), can be useful for information sharing. IT systems are most valuable  
when practitioners use the shared data to make more informed decisions  
about how to support and safeguard a child.

25

P
age 43



P
age 44



Notes

Early Help Practice Guidance Gloucestershire County Council

27

P
age 45



Early Help 
Practice Guidance
Update August 2018

GCC_2387 6.19

P
age 46



Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Thursday 12th September at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

Update on Care Leavers Offer – Mentoring Provision

Author – Mark Bone 02nd September 2019

Background

Through the Children and Social Work Act 2017, the Government introduced the 
requirement for local authorities to publish a ‘Care Leaver Offer’ which outlines the 
services for care leavers available within the local authority area. 
 
The Act received Royal Assent, becoming law on 27th April 2017.  The local authority 
was required to publish its local offer by December 2018.  The local offer should 
provide information about all the services and support that is available to care 
leavers, including information about their statutory entitlements as well as any 
discretionary support a local authority chooses to provide. Services relating to the 
following should be covered:

 Health and well-being
 Relationships
 Education and training
 Employment
 Accommodation
 Participation in society

A care leaver’s strategic group was formed to oversee the development and 
publicise Gloucestershire’s local offer for care leavers. 

Care 
Leavers 
Strategic 
Group

Page 47

Agenda Item 5



Current Position

Gloucestershire’s local offer for care leavers was published and launched at a care 
leaver’s celebration event in October 2018 during care leaver’s week.  The offer is 
currently being updated to reflect changes we have made since publishing the initial 
offer.   

The local offer is accessible via GCC website
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/health-and-social-care/children-young-people-
and-families/care-leavers-offer-2018/ and is now available in 5 other languages to 
reflect our cohort of Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC).  There is 
also an easy to read care leavers offer summary available.  We have also published 
copies of the local offer to distribute to care leavers and have these accessible in all 
of our offices. 

Work will continue with young people and partner agencies to develop the local offer.  

At the previous meeting an update on the Local Offer was given, further information 
was requested on the progress of developing a Mentoring Scheme.  

 A bid was submitted to NHS England to develop a 16-25 Service within this 
bid funding was being requested for a mentoring Co-ordinator to help support 
the development of a wider mentoring service.  Unfortunately we now know 
this bid was not successful.  

 We have also looked at providers who are already offering mentoring 
provision to consider what is offered and whether it is a possibility to 
commission an external service which offers quality and value for money.  

 We are currently looking at the development of a Peer Mentoring provision. A 
small amount of funding has been identified to develop and support this model 
over the next 18 months in partnership with Care Leavers.  

 For future developments we are planning to include a wider plan for a 
Mentoring Model within the Youth Strategy, where we will outline our 
aspirations and plans for funding and where we will locate this provision.   

 

Page 48

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/health-and-social-care/children-young-people-and-families/care-leavers-offer-2018/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/health-and-social-care/children-young-people-and-families/care-leavers-offer-2018/


1. Purpose

To provide the budget forecast outturn figures for the 2019/20 revenue budgets.

The structure of the report reflects the commissioning view of children and families services. 
Services are grouped by Service Areas with DSG (Dedicated Schools Grant) and non-DSG 
variances identified. 

DSG is the grant allocated by the Department for Education to fund all education services 
including schools and the total for Gloucestershire is over £451 million. Of this total, £356 
million is delegated to schools and academies with the remainder relating to early years, 
high needs and a small number of central support services which are the responsibility of the 
Local Authority. High needs includes the funding for special schools, pupil referral service, 
additional SEN support for pupils in mainstream schools and post 16 support to colleges.

2. Executive Summary 

2.1 Overall Position

The current forecast of the year end revenue position as at June 2019 for non-DSG funded 
services is an over-spend of £7.427 million (6.52% of budget). As in 2018/19 the over-spend 
is due to higher than expected number of external placements and the cost of agency social 
work staff covering vacancies. Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) funded services are forecast 
to be over-spent by £4.842 million in 2019/20 which includes the deficit carry forward of 
£2.884 million in the high needs block. As reported last year the cost pressures are in the 
high needs block (forecast over-spend for the block in 2019/20 is £2.518 million).

At the end of May 2019 children in care numbers were 722 compared to 669 at the end of 
May 2018. This continues to cause significant budgetary pressures on children’s services 
and in particular against the external placement and safeguarding staff budgets resulting in 
the over-spend. An efficiency plan is in place to reduce the forecast over-spend by £2.427 
million down to below £5 million by the year end. Cost pressures and proposals to achieve 
this reduction in over-spend are set out below. Further scrutiny of the budget position by 
external challenge is planned in September from the LGA and PeopleToo.

This position is analysed in the monitoring spreadsheet provided at attachment 1 to this 
report, based on actual expenditure to the end of May 2019 and forecasts input in June 
2019.

2.2 Variance Summary

Significant non-DSG variances are as follows:-

Gloucestershire County Council

2019/20 Revenue Budget Monitoring Report
Commissioner Director: Children & Families

Net Budget Analysis
Year-End Forecast input in June 2019

 

Page 49

Agenda Item 6



 Children in Care – over-spend against the external placement budget of £4.015 million 
(18.5% above budget) is the significant part of the total over-spend of £4.094 million.

 Safeguarding – against safeguarding staffing budgets there is a forecast over-spend of 
£2.676 million which is due to the use of agency staff covering for staff vacancies or 
where caseloads remain high. Section 17 and Children in Care payment budgets are 
forecasting a £0.463 million over-spend. 

 Young People Support – an over-spend of £0.515 million is being forecast due to the 
cost of agency staff covering vacancies in the youth support teams and young people’s 
expenses due to a number of complex cases.

 Other variances – under-spends totalling £0.306 million across a number of areas.

Significant DSG variances are as follows:-
 Schools – the deficit carry forward in the high needs block totals £2.884 million but is 

offset by de-delegated balances of £0.561 million. Top ups for EHC plans are forecast to 
over-spend by £0.21 million.

 Additional Needs - Independent Special Schools and recoupment charges are 
forecasting to over-spend by £1 million due to increased activity. The Advisory Teaching 
Services is declaring a £0.221 million over-spend on staffing costs.

 Education Outcomes and Intervention – the deficit balance set against the high needs 
block of £1.192 million is included under this heading.

 Other variances – there are a number of other smaller under-spends totalling £0.062 
million across a range of services. 

2.3 Underlying Financial Considerations

The outturn forecast summarised above includes the following financial information:
 The MTC targets for 2019/20 total £2.25 million, £1.7 million against external placements 

and £0.45 million across education. The over-spend against external placements will 
result in those savings not being achieved and it is forecast that part of the pensions 
savings will not been made (£0.05 million).

3. Detailed Analysis

An analysis of the financial figures is contained in the following attachments:
 Attachment 1 – Net Budget (Forecast Outturn) Commissioning Director: Children & 

Families – SLA format
 Attachment 2 – Net Budget (Forecast Outturn) – High Risk Analysis
 Attachment 3 – Activity Analysis – External Placements

The detailed analysis is set out under service areas:-

3.1 Education and Additional Needs 
 Schools - the deficit carry forward from 2018/19 in the high needs block totals £2.884 

million but is offset by de-delegated balances of £0.561 million. Top ups for EHC plans 
are forecast to over-spend by £0.21 million, mainly in the primary sector. This is likely to 
increase as the year progresses.

 Services for CYP with Additional Needs – Independent Special Schools are 
forecasting to over-spend by £1 million due to increased activity and there is a £0.221 
million over-spend on staffing costs relating to the Advisory Teaching Service which will 
be addressed through the remodelling of the service.

Page 50



 Education Outcomes and Intervention – at the start of the year a deficit budget was 
set against the high needs block of £1.192 million and the deficit is included under this 
heading.

The High Needs Strategy approved by Cabinet in January 2019 includes eight core activities 
to address the continuing cost pressures. Working with schools and the School Forum, these 
activities will include focusing on a new approach to exclusions and improvement of the 
graduated pathway and EHCP process. The specialist commissioning team are also 
continuing to work to reduce the cost of placements where appropriate. The budget 
pressures that Gloucestershire is facing reflects the national picture with significant deficits in 
DSG high needs being held in many Local Authorities with lobbying continuing for additional 
funding. Without additional funding it is unlikely that the DSG ring fenced grant can be 
brought back into balance in the near future resulting potentially in a financial risk to the 
Council. A 5 year recovery plan is being developed.

3.2 Children and Families
There are significant pressures on budgets related to operational social care services. This 
relates to the demand for child protection services and the number of children in care. 
Details include:-
 Children in Care – The current forecast over-spend against the external placement 

budget is £4.015 million (18.5% above budget) which includes a contingency of £3.1 
million for new cases in-year allowing for additional placements to replace existing care 
commitments or allowing for higher number of placements. The over-spend is due to a 
higher number of external placements than anticipated with a current average unit cost 
of £89,500 per annum. There are currently 315 external placements, of which 82 are 
residential and 62 supported living placements. Activity information for the last few years 
is presented in attachment 3.

 The review of all high cost placements is continuing on a regular basis as part of the 
wider improvement work ensuring decisions around placement change and permanence 
are executed in timely child centred manner. This will continue to reduce the cost of 
external placements where appropriate including reducing unit costs.  Improving social 
care practice to divert children from care at an earlier point and achieve permanence at 
the earliest opportunity will reduce numbers of children in care costs in the longer term. 

 Safeguarding - against safeguarding staffing budgets there is a forecast overspend of 
£2.676 million which is due to the use of agency staff covering for staff vacancies or 
where caseloads remain high. Changes have been made to improve processes for 
recruitment, put in place more effective advertising as well as the launch of the social 
work academy to support the training and development of social workers and to improve 
retention. Turnover of staff has stayed around 17% over the last three months and at the 
end of May there were 148 agency workers in post compared to over 180 at times in 
2018/19. As newly qualified staff start over the next few months and gain experience the 
number of agency staff will reduce resulting in a lower over-spend position. 

 A higher level of activity is also causing an over-spend of £0.463 million in section 17 
and discretionary payments for foster carers. A resource panel is now in place to review 
and agree all significant payments and ensure consistency across teams and signpost to 
other services.

 Young People Support – young peoples support are forecasting a £0.515 million over-
spend due to a number of complex cases and the additional cost of agency staff 
covering vacancies where the cost will reduce as permanent staff are recruited. 

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



Service Area Budget Manager
Full Year 

Budget
Actual

Services for CYP £000 £000 DSG   £000
Non DSG 

£000
Total £000 %

Education & Additional Needs Tim Browne

Schools CF0201 -53,137 -50,572 2,515 50 2,565 -4.8%

Services for CYP with Additional Needs CF0202 17,692 18,835 1,185 -42 1,143 6.5%

Disabled Children & Young People CF0209 4,325 4,177 0 -148 -148 -3.4%

Education Outcomes and Intervention CF0203/04/05 8,059 9,109 1,204 -154 1,050 13.0%

Commissioning for Learning CF0206 13,213 13,202 1 -12 -11 -0.1%

Early Years Education CF0210 30,883 30,883 0 0 0 0.0%

Other Education Services CF02-0 424 399 -49 24 -25 -5.9%

Total Education & Additional Needs 21,459 26,033 4,856 -282 4,574 21.3%

ok ok ok ok ok All ok

Children & Families Julie Rzezniczek

Safeguarding CF0301 16,978 20,102 0 3,124 3,124 18.4%

Children in Care CF0302 24,932 29,026 0 4,094 4,094 16.4%

Regulated Services CF0303 16,408 16,330 0 -78 -78 -0.5%

Quality CF0305 1,902 2,093 0 191 191 10.0%

CF Management & Business Support CF0306 3,690 3,608 0 -82 -82 -2.2%

Localities Coordination & Support CF0307 3,679 3,679 0 0 0 0.0%

Young People Services CF040201 4,143 4,658 0 515 515 12.4%

Total Children & Families 71,732 79,496 0 7,764 7,764 10.8%

Commissioned Children's Services Wendy Williams

Young People Support CF0402 4,740 4,740 0 0 0 0.0%

Commissioning of Intervention Services CF0403 881 881 0 0 0 0.0%

Health Contracts CF0405 704 704 0 0 0 0.0%

Commissioned Early Years Services CF0406 4,873 4,847 -14 -12 -26 -0.5%

Other Commissioned Children's Services 11,198 11,172 -14 -12 -26 -0.2%

CF07 ok ok ok ok ok All ok

Commissioning Function Sue Hall 9,462 9,419 0 -43 -43 -0.5%

Roundings 0 0 0 0 0

Total 113,851 126,120 4,842 7,427 12,269 10.8%

Variance

2019/20 Revenue Budget Monitoring Report - ATTACHMENT 1

Commissioning Director : Children & Families

Net Budget Analysis

Year-End Forecast input in June 2019

P
age 53



Service Area Budget Manager
Full Year 

Budget
Actual

High Risk Areas £000 £000 DSG £000
Non DSG 

£000

Total 

£000
%

External Placements Wendy Williams 21,755 25,770 0 4,015 4,015 18.5%

Independent Special Schools Charlotte Jones 10,439 11,439 1,000 0 1,000 9.6%

Fostering Tammy Wheatley 10,822 10,783 0 -39 -39 -0.4%

Adoption Tammy Wheatley 2,545 2,554 0 9 9 0.4%

Special Guard & Res Orders Tammy Wheatley 3,041 2,992 0 -49 -49 -1.6%

Safeguarding Staff Julie Rzezniczek 15,104 17,780 0 2,676 2,676 17.7%

Section 17 & Discretionary Payments Various 977 1,440 0 463 463 47.4%

Discretionary Payments 595 698 0 103 103 17.3%

Section 17 Payments 382 742 0 360 360 94.2%

High Needs Top-up Budgets Charlotte Jones 23,503 23,713 210 0 210 0.9%

Pensions Philip Haslett 3,753 3,803 0 50 50 1.3%

Youth Support - Leaving Care / After Care Mark Bone/Francis Gobey 4,142 4,658 0 516 516 12.5%

Staffing 2,671 3,045 0 374 374 14.0%

Payments 1,471 1,613 0 142 142 9.7%

Transport Clare Medland 11,421 11,421 0 0 0 0.0%

Nursery Education Fees Sarah Hylton 30,604 30,604 0 0 0 0.0%

Roundings 0 0 0 0 0

Total 138,106 146,957 1,210 7,641 8,851 6.4%

Variance

2019/20 Revenue Budget Monitoring Report - ATTACHMENT 2

Commissioning Director : Children & Families Services

High Risk Analysis

Year-End Forecast input in June 2019

P
age 54



Month 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 Month 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18
2018/

19

2019/2

0
Month 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

2018/1

9
2019/20 Month 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Apr 151 131 159 136 153 184 245 270 320 Apr 31 21 31 33 37 55 63 72 78 Apr 102 92 107 89 108 104 153 161 174 Apr 18 21 14 8 19 29 37 68

May 158 134 152 138 162 201 252 287 315 May 28 22 30 36 42 56 63 72 82 May 109 93 101 90 114 118 154 176 171 May 19 21 12 6 19 35 39 62

Jun 159 129 149 142 174 205 248 287 Jun 27 23 31 35 45 63 61 68 Jun 114 90 95 95 117 119 155 181 Jun 16 22 12 12 23 32 38

Jul 157 129 149 138 170 226 247 299 Jul 23 21 29 36 41 61 65 68 Jul 115 94 98 92 115 136 150 188 Jul 14 22 10 14 29 32 43

Aug 153 126 138 132 169 215 241 305 Aug 20 23 24 29 40 57 61 70 Aug 113 88 98 94 115 133 146 192 Aug 15 16 9 14 25 34 43

Sep 161 131 134 136 166 231 251 289 Sep 23 23 24 27 40 63 65 68 Sep 114 91 95 101 111 145 152 182 Sep 17 14 8 15 23 34 39

Oct 156 127 135 134 178 221 246 294 Oct 24 22 28 22 44 61 65 69 Oct 111 89 93 104 119 136 144 186 Oct 16 13 8 15 24 37 39

Nov 153 127 139 129 176 213 246 295 Nov 21 22 31 22 45 61 67 75 Nov 110 89 96 100 117 131 138 173 Nov 16 11 7 14 21 41 47

Dec 155 127 133 124 189 222 246 307 Dec 21 24 30 20 51 61 67 75 Dec 110 91 91 98 120 133 142 178 Dec 12 12 6 18 26 37 54

Jan 148 129 138 132 180 217 244 314 Jan 20 25 34 24 49 60 67 82 Jan 108 93 92 100 113 129 142 176 Jan 11 12 8 18 28 35 56

Feb 133 126 142 124 178 234 252 312 Feb 20 25 34 24 52 61 68 82 Feb 94 91 94 95 110 137 149 173 Feb 10 14 5 16 36 35 57

Mar 137 129 136 143 187 231 246 313 Mar 22 25 30 36 53 63 67 84 Mar 94 94 91 100 114 134 146 177 Mar 10 15 7 20 34 33 52

Average 152 129 142 134 174 217 247 298 318 23 23 30 29 45 60 65 74 80 108 91 96 97 114 130 148 179 173 15 16 9 14 26 35 45 65

1. Youth Offending placements account for the difference between the number of residential and fostering placements and the total.

2. Activity includes unaccompanied asylum seekers

3. The numbers are based on placements in the database at the end of a month. Previous months figures are updated as information becomes available

4. Prior to 2011/12 supported living placements were included within the fostering figures

5. There were a significant number of placements which came in during March 2013 which were only identified from April 

Notes

2019/20 Revenue Budget Monitoring Report

Children & Young People’s Services

Activity Analysis - External Placements

Total Residential Agency PlacementsTotal Agency Placements Total Fostering Agency Placements Supported Living Placements

100

110

120

130

140

150

160

170

180

190

200

210

220

230

240

250

260

270

280

290

300

310

320

330

340

350

A
p

r

M
a
y

J
u
n

J
u
l

A
u

g

S
e

p

O
c
t

N
o

v

D
e

c

J
a
n

F
e
b

M
a
r

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

P
la

c
e
m

e
n

ts
 

Month 

Total External Agency Placements 

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

0

20

40

60

80

100

A
p

r

M
a
y

J
u
n

J
u
l

A
u

g

S
e

p

O
c
t

N
o
v

D
e
c

J
a
n

F
e
b

M
a
r

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

P
la

c
e
m

e
n

ts
 

Month 

Agency Residential Placements 

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

70

80

90

100

110

120

130

140

150

160

170

180

190

200

A
p

r

M
a
y

J
u
n

J
u
l

A
u

g

S
e

p

O
c
t

N
o

v

D
e

c

J
a
n

F
e
b

M
a
r

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

P
la

c
e
m

e
n

ts
 

Month 

Agency Fostering Placements 

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

A
p

r

M
a
y

J
u
n

J
u
l

A
u

g

S
e

p

O
c
t

N
o
v

D
e
c

J
a
n

F
e
b

M
a
r

Supported Living Placements 

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

P
age 55



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	4 Developing the early help strategy
	GCC_2387 Early Help Practice Guide_Dev8

	5 Care Leaver Offer Update - Mentoring Provision
	6 Revenue Monitoring Report
	Copy of P03 CF June 2019 SC App (2)


